

2019 DE REG TEXT 527422 (NS)

Delaware Regulation Text - Netscan

24 DE ADC CSA 2.0; 24 DE ADC CSA 3.0; 24 DE ADC CSA 4.0; 24 DE ADC CSA 6.0;  
24 DE ADC CSA 8.0; 24 DE ADC CSA 9.0; 24 DE ADC CSA 10.0; 24 DE ADC CSA 11.0

Proposed Regulations

July 01, 2019

Regulated Professions and Occupations

FULL TEXT OF REGULATION(S)

## **Uniform Controlled Substances Act Regulations**

Pursuant to 16 Del.C. s.4731, the Delaware Secretary of State has proposed revisions to the Uniformed Controlled Substances Act regulations. Revisions to Section 4.0 specify the requirements pertaining to expiration of Schedule II and III prescriptions and partial filling of controlled substance prescriptions. The new subsection 9.4 provides that, prior to issuing a prescription for an opioid analgesic, or a prescription for a benzodiazepine, the practitioner must query the Prescription Monitoring Program (PMP) to obtain and review the patient's prescription history. Language that conflicts with these requirements has been stricken.

### **Uniform Controlled Substances Act Regulations**

24 DE ADC CSA 2.0

#### **24 DE ADC CSA 2.0 Definitions**

"**Act**" means the Controlled Substance Act, 16 **Del.C.** Ch. 47.

"**Administer**" or "**administration**" means the direct application of a drug to the body of a patient by injection, inhalation, ingestion or any other means. The administration of a drug directly to a patient by a practitioner is administration not an act of dispensing.

"**Controlled substance**" means any substance or drug defined, enumerated or included in this chapter and Title 21, Code of Federal Regulations.

"**Direct supervision**" means the supervising practitioner, pharmacist or licensee will be present and immediately available within the dispensing area.

"**Dispense**" or "**dispensing**" means the interpretation, evaluation, and implementation of a prescription drug or, including the preparation and delivery of a drug to a patient or patient's agent in a suitable container appropriately labeled for subsequent administration to, or use by, a patient.

"**Dispenser**" means a person authorized by this State to dispense or distribute to the ultimate user any controlled substance.

"**Practitioner**" means physician, dentist, veterinarian, podiatrist, nurse practitioner, physician assistant or other individual, licensed, registered, or otherwise permitted, by the United States or the State of Delaware to prescribe, dispense or store a controlled substance in the course of professional practice but does not include a pharmacist, a pharmacy, or an institutional practitioner.

**"Pharmacist"** means any pharmacist licensed by the State of Delaware to dispense controlled substances and shall include any other person (e.g. pharmacist intern) authorized by the State of Delaware to prescribe, dispense or store controlled substances under the supervision of a pharmacist licensed by this State.

**"Pharmacist-in-charge"** means a pharmacist registered with the State Board of Pharmacy and who is responsible for the prescription department of the pharmacy.

**"Prescription"** means an order for medication which is dispensed to or for an ultimate user but does not include an order for medication which is dispensed for immediate administration to the ultimate user. (e.g. an order to dispense a drug to a bed patient for immediate administration in a hospital is not a prescription.)

**"Register"** and **"registered"** refer to **"Registrant"** means the holder of a registration required by 16 Del.C. §4732.

## 24 DE ADC CSA 3.0

### 24 DE ADC CSA 3.0 Registration Requirements

3.1 Registration shall be on a biennial basis. ~~upon forms supplied by the Division of Professional Regulation and/or Secretary of State for that purpose.~~ A separate registration is required at each principal place of business or professional practice where controlled substances are manufactured, distributed, dispensed, or kept for research analysis. Out-of-State registrants who dispense or distribute controlled substances to patients or facilities in Delaware are required to obtain a registration.

3.1.1 ~~All practitioners registered under Title 16, Chapter 47 as of July 1, 2013, must attest to completion of a one hour education course on Delaware law, regulation and programs, acceptable to the Secretary, pertaining to the prescribing and distribution of controlled substances on or before June 30, 2015 in order to qualify for continued registration.~~

3.1.2 ~~3.1.1~~ All practitioners who obtain new registration under Title 16, Chapter 47 after July 1, 2013 must attest to completion of a one hour education course on Delaware law, regulation and programs, acceptable to the Secretary, pertaining to the prescribing and distribution of controlled substances within the first year of obtaining registration in order to qualify for continued registration.

3.1.3 ~~3.1.2~~ All practitioners must attest to completion of two hours of continuing education biennially in the areas of controlled substance prescribing practices, treatment of chronic pain, or other topics related to the prescribing of controlled substances.

3.1.4 ~~The Secretary shall periodically review the requirements of paragraphs 3.1.1, 3.1.2, and 3.1.3 to determine adequacy.~~

3.2 Administrative inspections of controlled premises may be conducted in accordance with the provisions under 16 Del.C. §4782(b).

### 3.3 Revocation and Suspension

3.3.1 ~~Revocation of registration by the Federal Government will result in automatic revocation of the State registration.~~

3.3.2 ~~Proceedings for denying, suspending or revoking a registration shall be held before the Committee. The Committee will forward their recommendation in writing to the Secretary of State for his/her review and decision. Persons complained against may appear personally or by counsel, and may produce any competent evidence in their behalf in answer to the alleged violation.~~

3.3.3 ~~Whenever a registration is denied, suspended, or revoked by the Secretary of State, the Secretary of State or his/her designee will reduce in writing his/her findings and rulings, and the reasons therefor, and forward them to the persons applying~~

for registration or complained against within 15 days of receiving the written recommendation of the Committee. This provision shall in no way stay any such denial, suspension, or revocation. The Secretary of State's decision is final and conclusive. A person aggrieved may file an appeal as provided in 16 ~~Del.C.~~ §4786.

## 24 DE ADC CSA 4.0

**24 DE ADC CSA 4.0 Prescriptions**

## 4.1 Persons Entitled to Issue Prescriptions

4.1.1 A prescription for a controlled substance may be issued only by a practitioner who is:

4.1.1.1 Authorized to prescribe controlled substances by the jurisdiction in which he/she is licensed to practiced his/her profession; and

4.1.1.2 Either registered or exempt from registration pursuant to 16 ~~Del.C.~~ §4732.

4.1.2 A verbal prescription for a controlled substance may only be communicated to a pharmacist, a pharmacy intern or a pharmacy student participating in an approved College of Pharmacy coordinated practical experience program under the direct supervision of a licensed pharmacist by the prescriber. ~~Verbal prescriptions for schedule III-V controlled substances in a hospice or long term care facility may be communicated by an authorized agent of the prescriber.~~ Verbal prescriptions for schedule III-V controlled substances for a patient in a hospice or long term care facility may be communicated by an authorized agent of the prescriber but must be verified and authorized by the prescriber within 72 hours.

~~4.1.3 All verbal prescriptions for controlled substances must be verified and authorized by the prescriber.~~

4.1.4 ~~4.1.3~~ Prescriptions for controlled substances may be transmitted via facsimile or electronic transmission by a practitioner or by the practitioner's authorized agent to a pharmacy.

## 4.2 Purposes of Issue of Prescription

4.2.1 A prescription for a controlled substance must be issued for a legitimate medical purpose by practitioner acting in the usual course of their professional practice. The responsibility for proper prescribing and dispensing of controlled substances is upon the prescribing practitioner, but a corresponding responsibility rests with the pharmacist who fills the prescription. An order purporting to be a prescription not issued in the usual course of professional treatment or in legitimate and authorized research is not a prescription within the meaning and intent of §4738 of the Act and the person knowingly filling such a purported prescription, as well as the person issuing it shall be subject to the penalties provided for violation of the provisions of law relating to controlled substances.

4.2.2 A prescription may not be issued in order for a practitioner to obtain controlled substances for supplying the practitioner for the purpose of general dispensing to patients.

4.2.3 A prescription may not be issued for the dispensing of narcotic drugs listed in any schedule to a person engaged in substance abuse or misuse, as defined in ~~subsections 9.3.11 and 9.3.12~~ subsection 9.3, for the purpose of continuing such person's dependence upon such drugs, unless otherwise authorized by law.

4.3 Manner of Issuance of Prescriptions. All prescriptions for controlled substances shall be dated on the day when issued and shall bear the full name and address of the patient, and the name, address, telephone number and registration number of the practitioner. A practitioner may sign a prescription in the same manner as he would sign a check or legal document (e.g. J.H. Smith or John H. Smith). When an oral order is not permitted, prescriptions shall be written with ink or indelible pencil or

typewriter and shall be manually signed by the practitioner. The prescriptions may be prepared by a secretary or agent for the signature of a practitioner but the prescribing practitioner is responsible where the prescription does not conform in all essential respects to the law and regulations. A corresponding liability rests upon the pharmacist who fills a prescription not prepared in the form prescribed by these regulations. Each written prescription shall have the name of the practitioner stamped, typed, or hand-printed on it, as well as the signature of the practitioner.

4.4 Persons Entitled to fill Prescriptions. A prescription for controlled substances may only be filled by a pharmacist acting in the usual course of his professional practice and either registered individually or employed in a registered pharmacy or by a registered institutional practitioner.

4.5 Dispensing Narcotic Drugs for Maintenance Purposes. No person shall administer or dispense narcotic drugs listed in any schedule to a narcotic drug dependent person for the purpose of continuing his dependence except in compliance with and as authorized by Federal law and regulation.

4.6 Emergency Dispensing of Schedule II Substances. In an emergency situation a pharmacist may dispense controlled substances listed in Schedule II upon receiving oral authorization of a prescribing practitioner, provided that the procedures comply with Federal law and regulation.

#### 4.7 Expiration of Prescription

~~4.7.1 Prescriptions for controlled substances in Schedules II and III will become void unless dispensed within seven (7) days of the original date of the prescription or unless the original prescriber authorizes the prescription past the seven (7) day period. Such prescriptions may be dispensed up to 100 dosage units or a 31 day supply whatever is the greater. As an exception to dosage limitations set forth in this subparagraph, and in accordance with 21 CFR Section 1306.1(b), prescriptions for controlled substances in Schedule II for patients either having a medically documented terminal illness or patients in Long Term Care Facilities (LTCF), may be filled in partial quantities, to include individual dosage units. For each partial filling, the dispensing pharmacist shall record on the back of the prescription (or another appropriate record, uniformly maintained, and readily retrievable) the date of the partial filling, quantity dispensed, remaining quantity authorized to be dispensed and the identification of the dispensing pharmacist. The total quantity of Schedule II controlled substances dispensed in all partial fillings must not exceed the total quantity prescribed.~~

~~4.7.2 Schedule II prescriptions for terminally ill or LTCF patients, shall be valid for a period not to exceed 60 days from the issue date unless sooner terminated by the discontinuance of the medication.~~

#### 4.7 Expiration of Schedule II and III Prescriptions

4.7.1 Prescriptions for controlled substances in Schedules II and III will become void unless filled within seven (7) days of the original date of the prescription or unless the original prescriber authorizes the prescription past the seven (7) day period.

4.7.2 Schedule II prescriptions for terminally ill or LTCF patients, shall be valid for a period not to exceed 60 days from the issue date unless sooner terminated by the discontinuance of the medication.

#### 4.8 Partial Filling of Controlled Substance Prescriptions

##### 4.8.1 Schedule II

4.8.1.1 Schedule II prescriptions may be dispensed up to 100 dosage units or a 31 day supply whatever is the greater, and may be filled in partial quantities. For each partial filling, the dispensing pharmacist shall record on the back of the prescription (or another appropriate record, uniformly maintained, and readily retrievable) the date of the partial filling, quantity dispensed,

remaining quantity authorized to be dispensed and the identification of the dispensing pharmacist. The total quantity of Schedule II controlled substances dispensed in all partial fillings must not exceed the total quantity prescribed and must be filled not later than 30 days after the date on which the prescription is written. In accordance with 21 CFR Section 1306.13(b), prescriptions for controlled substances in Schedule II for patients either having a medically documented terminal illness or patients in Long Term Care Facilities (LTCF), may be filled in partial quantities, to include individual dosage units, and must be filled not later than 60 days after the date on which the prescription is written.

#### 4.8.2 Schedules III, IV and V

4.8.2.1 Schedule III, IV and V prescriptions may be filled in partial quantities provided that each partial filling is recorded in the same manner as a refilling, the total quantity dispensed in all partial fillings must not exceed the total quantity prescribed, and must be filled not later than 6 months after the date on which the prescription is written.

4-8 4.9 Mail Order Prescription. Before dispensing prescriptions for Schedules II, III, IV and V controlled substances by mail, the registrant and/or the pharmacist-in-charge must assure that the prescription is valid and written by a prescriber properly registered with the Federal Government. Such verification may be made either in writing or orally.

4-9 4.10 Pursuant to authority granted by 16 Del.C. §4732 the Secretary of State finds that waiver of the registration requirements contained in that section as to non-resident practitioners is consistent with the public health and safety subject to the conditions contained in this regulation.

4-9-1 4.10.1 The pharmacist must establish that the name of the non-resident practitioner does not appear on the list kept by the Office of Controlled Substances of those non-resident practitioners to whom the waiver granted by this regulation does not apply.

4-9-2 4.10.2 The waiver of the registration requirement provided by the registration shall not apply to non-resident practitioners determined by the Office of Controlled Substances to have acted in a manner inconsistent with the Public Health and Safety. The Office of Controlled Substances shall maintain a list of those nonresident practitioners found by them to have so acted. Pharmacists shall not honor the prescriptions of non-resident practitioners whose names appear on that list unless such non-resident practitioners have registered pursuant to the provisions of 16 Del.C. §4732.

4-10 4.11 The pharmacist must establish that a practitioner is properly registered to prescribe controlled substances under Federal Law.

4-10-1 4.11.1 The pharmacist and/or an employee under his/her direct supervision must verify the identification of the receiver of the controlled substance prescription by reference to valid photographic identification. For the purposes of this section, a valid photographic identification is limited to the following:

4-10-1-1 4.11.1.1 A valid Delaware motor vehicle operator's license which contains a photograph of the person receiving the prescription - record the license number listed on the license as part of the patient record.

4-10-1-2 4.11.1.2 A valid Delaware identification card which contains the photograph of the person receiving the prescription - record the identification number listed on the card as part of the patient record.

4-10-1-3 4.11.1.3 A valid United States passport.

4-10-1-4 4.11.1.4 A valid passport or motor vehicle operator's license or state identification card of another state, territory or possession of the United States or a foreign country only if it:

4-10-1-4-1 4.11.1.4.1 Contains a photograph of the person receiving the prescription.

~~4.10.1.4.2~~ 4.11.1.4.2 Is encased in tamper-resistant plastic or is otherwise tamper-resistant.

~~4.10.1.4.3~~ 4.11.1.4.3 Identifies the date of birth of the person receiving the prescription and has an identification number assigned to the document which can be recorded as part of the patient record.

~~4.10.2~~ 4.11.2 Identification for mail order dispensed controlled substances must comply with all federal standards.

~~4.10.3~~ 4.11.3 No filled prescription for any Schedule II controlled substance may be received at any drive through window unless the pharmacy is authorized to do so by the Office of Controlled Substances. Written prescriptions for Schedule II controlled substances may be initially presented at a drive through if the pharmacy has not obtained authorization, but the filled prescription must be picked up inside the pharmacy. Authorization to permit the receipt of filled Scheduled II controlled substances prescriptions at a drive through window may be granted only if the pharmacy can demonstrate all of the following:

~~4.10.3.1~~ 4.11.3.1 A security camera system that captures clear images of the driver's face and the license plate of the vehicle receiving any filled prescription; and

~~4.10.3.2~~ 4.11.3.2 A written policy indicating that when picking up a Schedule II controlled substance at a drive through window, the driver must be recorded as the person picking up the prescription; and

~~4.10.3.3~~ 4.11.3.3 A written policy requiring staff to review the identification of the driver, capture an image of the identification of the driver, and store that image in the pharmacy's records for at least three years for every filled Schedule II prescription picked up at the drive through window.

~~4.11~~ 4.12 Except when dispensed directly by a practitioner other than a pharmacy to an ultimate user, no Schedule V cough preparation containing codeine, dilaudid or any other narcotic cough preparation may be dispensed without the written or oral prescription of a practitioner.

## **20 DE Reg. 564 (01/01/17)**

### 24 DE ADC CSA 6.0

#### **24 DE ADC CSA 6.0 Records and Inventory**

##### 6.1 Requirements

6.1.1 All practitioners and pharmacies registered and authorized to prescribe or dispense controlled substances shall maintain records that adhere to all State and federal laws.

6.1.2 Practitioners authorized to prescribe or dispense controlled substances shall maintain a record with the following information:

6.1.2.1 Name and address of patient;

6.1.2.2 Date prescribed;

6.1.2.3 Name, strength, refills authorized and amount of medication.

6.1.3 Other records required by 21 CFR 1300 to the end of 1316. The information for prescribed controlled substances may be kept either in a log or on patient records provided such records or logs are made available for inspection. The information

for dispensed controlled substances must be maintained in a separate log. Entries must include the date dispensed, name and address of the patient, name and strength of medication, and amount dispensed.

6.1.4 Other persons registered to manufacture, distribute, or dispense controlled substances shall maintain a record with the following information:

6.1.4.1 Amount received or distributed;

6.1.4.2 Names, addresses and dates regarding these transactions;

6.1.4.3 Other records required by 21 CFR 1300 to the end of 1316.

6.1.5 When a pharmacy relocates to a new building, or there is a change in Pharmacist-in-Charge, a complete audit of all controlled substances must be conducted before the move and within twenty-four hours after the move is complete or the PIC change occurs. If the relocation occurs in the same building, no inventory count shall be required, so long as a pharmacist physically moves the controlled substance inventory.

6.1.6 Transfers of controlled substances are only permitted if both parties are registered. Transfers of schedule II controlled substances must be transferred via DEA 222 forms. Schedule III through V transfers may be done so via invoice. Controlled substances obtained under one registration must be transferred according to this procedure when this registrant wants to transfer possession of said controlled substances to another registrant.

## 6.2 Accountability Audits

6.2.1 Accountability audits in pharmacies will be accomplished through a review of invoices, prescription files, other records required by 21 **CFR** 1300 to the end of 1316.

6.2.2 Accountability audits of registered practitioners will be accomplished through a review of records to be kept by paragraph 6.1 of this section.

6.2.3 Accountability audits of registered manufacturers and distributors (including wholesalers) will be accomplished through a review of invoices received and distributed and other records required by 21 CFR 1300 to the end of 1316.

## 6.3 Final Inventory

6.3.1 Pharmacies. Whenever the pharmacist in charge of a pharmacy in the State of Delaware leaves his position, a complete inventory of all medication covered by 16 **Del.C.** Ch. 47 be taken by the present and prospective pharmacist-in-charge. A copy of such inventory will be sent to the Office of Controlled Substances and another copy retained on the premises.

~~For the purpose of this regulation, the "pharmacist-in-charge" is a pharmacist registered with the State Board of Pharmacy and who is responsible for the prescription department of the registrant.~~

6.3.2 Registered practitioners who cease legal existence or discontinue business or professional practice shall notify the Office of Controlled Substances within 30 days of such fact, and shall provide the Office with an inventory of controlled substances on hand.

## 6.4 Retention of Records

6.4.1 All records required by this Regulation must be retained for a period of at least two (2) years.

## 24 DE ADC CSA 8.0

**24 DE ADC CSA 8.0 Practitioner Dispensing of Controlled Substances**

8.1 No prescriber who is not the owner of a pharmacy or who is not in the employ of such owner, may dispense more than a 72-hour supply of schedule II through V controlled substances except for the following, who still must comply with other sections of this Regulation including but not limited to Regulation subsections 4.7, 4.8 and 4.9:

8.1.1 A practitioner who confines their activities to dispensing complimentary packages of controlled substances to the practitioner's own patients in the regular course of their practice without payment of a fee or remuneration of any kind, whether direct or indirect.

8.2 Any registered practitioner who dispenses controlled substances for sale must adhere to all State and federal laws including but not limited to the following:

8.2.1 Must notify the Office of Controlled Substances prior to dispensing any controlled substance that they will be dispensing controlled substances for sale.

8.2.1.1 A practitioner who confines their activities to dispensing complimentary packages of controlled substances to the practitioner's own patients in the regular course of their practice without payment of a fee or remuneration of any kind, whether direct or indirect, and who dispenses the drug themselves is not required to notify the Office of Controlled Substances.

8.2.2 Before dispensing any controlled substance the patient must be advised that the prescription may be filled in the practitioner's office or any pharmacy.

8.2.3 Prior to dispensing the practitioner must conduct a medication reconciliation review and offer to counsel the patient.

8.2.4 Prior to dispensing the practitioner must inspect the prescription product to verify its accuracy in all respects and personally place his initials on the record of sale as certification of the accuracy of, and the responsibility for, the entire transaction.

8.2.5 If the patient chooses to purchase the controlled substance from the practitioner, the practitioner shall have the patient sign the prescription and return it to the practitioner as a hard copy record of the sale. If the practitioner chooses to record the sale in book form or maintain it in an automated data system, he shall mark the prescription void, file chronologically and maintain a record for at least two years.

8.2.6 Inventories and records of all controlled substances listed in schedule II shall be maintained separately from all other records of the registrant.

8.2.7 Inventories and records of controlled substances listed in schedules III through V may be maintained separately from schedule II controlled substances records but shall not be maintained with non-controlled substances records of the registrant.

8.2.8 All records of schedule II through V controlled substances shall be maintained at the office site or an off-site retrievable within 72 hours of a request of the Office of Controlled Substances.

8.2.9 Practitioners shall perform an inventory of controlled substances at least every two years.

8.2.10 Compounding of a controlled substance by a practitioner is permitted as long as the United States Pharmacopoeia (USP) 795 and 797 standards and guidelines are followed.

8.2.11 Technicians may assist practitioners in the filling processes but only under direct supervision of the practitioner.

8.2.12 Practitioners must comply with all previous sections of this Regulation.

8.3 Administrative inspections of controlled premises may be conducted in accordance with the provisions under 16 Del.C. §4782.

## 24 DE ADC CSA 9.0

### 24 DE ADC CSA 9.0 Safe Prescribing of Opioid Analgesics and PMP Query Requirements

9.1 Preamble: This Section provides requirements for the prescribing of opioid analgesics in order to address potential prescription drug overdose, abuse, and diversion and encourage the proper and ethical treatment of pain. Pursuant to the requirements of this Section, the practitioner can meet the goal of addressing drug overdose, abuse and diversion while ensuring patient access to safe and effective pain care.

9.2 License and DEA registration required: To prescribe opioid analgesics in Delaware, the practitioner must be licensed in this state and registered with the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration and must comply with all applicable federal and state regulations. Out-of-state practitioners, who are prescribing controlled substances to patients in Delaware, must hold active licensure and registration in their home states. Practitioners are referred to the Practitioner's Manual of the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration and specific rules governing controlled substances.

9.3 Definitions:

The following words and terms, when used in Section 9.0, have the following meaning unless the context clearly indicates otherwise:

9.3.1 "**Acute Care**" means the treatment of Acute Pain, as defined in this subsection 9.3.2 .

9.3.2 "**Acute Pain**" means the normal, predicted physiological response to a noxious chemical, thermal or mechanical stimulus and typically is associated with invasive procedures, trauma and disease. It is generally time limited. For the purpose of this Regulation, Acute Pain is less than three months in duration.

9.3.3 "**Acute pain episode**" means a discrete period of pain that usually follows some sort of injury to the body and generally dissipates when the injury heals.

9.3.4 "**Addiction**" means a primary, chronic, neurobiologic disease, with genetic, psychosocial, and environmental factors influencing its development and manifestations. It is characterized by behaviors that include the following: impaired control over drug use, craving, compulsive use, and continued use despite harm. Physical dependence and tolerance are normal physiological consequences of extended opioid therapy for pain and are not the same as addiction.

"**Benzodiazepine**" means a class of drugs that produce central nervous system (CNS) depression and that are most commonly used to treat insomnia and anxiety.

9.3.5 "**Chronic Care**" means the treatment of Chronic Pain, as defined in this subsection 9.3.6 .

9.3.6 "**Chronic Pain**" means a state in which pain persists beyond the usual course of an acute disease or healing of an injury, or that may or may not be associated with an acute or chronic pathologic process that causes continuous or intermittent pain over months or years. For the purpose of this Regulation, Chronic Pain means continuous or nearly continuous pain more than three months in duration.

9.3.7 "**Opioid Analgesic**" means a drug that is used to alleviate moderate to severe pain that is either an opiate (derived from the opium poppy) or opiate-like (synthetic drugs). Examples include: morphine, codeine, fentanyl, meperidine, and methadone. For purposes of this regulation, it does not include, unless specifically designated as controlled under 16 Del.C. §4711, the dextrorotatory isomer of 3-methoxy-n-methylmorphinan and its salts (dextromethorphan). It does include its racemic and levorotatory forms.

9.3.8 "**PMP**" means the Delaware Prescription Monitoring Program.

9.3.9 "**Practitioner**" means a physician, dentist, podiatrist, nurse practitioner, physician assistant or other individual, licensed, registered, or otherwise permitted, by the United States or the State of Delaware to prescribe a controlled substance in the course of professional practice but does not include veterinarians.

9.3.10 "**Risk Assessment**" means utilizing a tool appropriate for the patient, such as but not limited to, the Screener and Opioid Assessment for Patients with Pain ("SOAPP"), Opioid Risk Tool ("ORT"), or Screening, Brief Intervention and Referral to Treatment ("SBIRT"), which are designed for predicting the likelihood that a patient will abuse or misuse a prescribed controlled substance based on past behavior, genetic predispositions, social or environmental factors, or other risks.

9.3.11 "**Substance Abuse**" means using a controlled substance without a legitimate medical need, for the purpose of altering one's emotional experience.

9.3.12 "**Substance Misuse**" means using a controlled substance in a way that is not prescribed.

9.3.13 "**Treatment Agreement**" means a written agreement, signed by the practitioner and the patient (or the patient's proxy), which shall become part of the patient's medical record. The Treatment Agreement may include, at the practitioner's discretion:

- The patient's agreement to take medications at the dose and frequency prescribed with a specific protocol for lost prescriptions and early refills;
- Reasons for which medication therapy may be re-evaluated, tapered or discontinued, including but not limited to, violation of the Treatment Agreement or lack of effectiveness;
- The requirement that all chronic pain management prescriptions are provided by a single practitioner or a limited agreed upon group of practitioners;
- The patient's agreement to not abuse alcohol or use other medically unauthorized substances or medications;
- Acknowledgment that a violation of the agreement may result in action as deemed appropriate by the prescribing practitioner such as a change in the treatment plan, a referral to a pain specialist, or referral to an addiction treatment program; and
- The requirement that fluid drug screens be performed at random intervals at the practitioner's discretion, but not less than every six months.

#### 9.4 PMP Query Requirements

9.4.1 Prior to issuing a prescription for an opioid analgesic, the practitioner must query the PMP to obtain and review the patient's prescription history.

9.4.2 Prior to issuing a prescription for a benzodiazepine, the practitioner must query the PMP to obtain and review the patient's prescription history.

9.4 9.5 Practitioner-patient relationship: A practitioner may not prescribe opioid analgesics unless a practitioner-patient relationship has been established, or the practitioner is seeing the patient in lieu of the patient's prescribing practitioner on a limited basis and on the practitioner's request or behalf.

9.5 9.6 First time, outpatient prescription for Acute Pain; maximum seven-day supply.

9.5.1 9.6.1 When issuing a prescription for an opioid analgesic to an adult patient for outpatient use for the first time, for an Acute Pain Episode, a practitioner may not issue a prescription for more than a seven-day supply.

9.5.2 9.6.2 A practitioner may not issue a prescription for an opioid analgesic to a minor for more than a seven-day supply at any time and shall discuss with the parent or guardian of the minor the risks associated with opioid use and the reasons why the prescription is necessary.

9.5.3 9.6.3 Notwithstanding subsections 9.5.1 9.6.1 and 9.5.2 9.6.2, if, in the professional medical judgment of a practitioner, more than a seven-day supply of an opiate is required to treat the adult or minor patient's acute medical condition, then the practitioner may issue a prescription for the quantity needed to treat such acute medical condition. The condition triggering the prescription of an opiate for more than a seven-day supply shall be documented in the patient's medical record, the practitioner shall query the PMP to obtain a prescription history, and the practitioner shall indicate that a non-opiate alternative was not appropriate to address the medical condition and comply with subsections 9.6.4 9.7.3 and 9.6.5 9.7.4.

9.6 9.7 Subsequent prescriptions. Subject to the exemptions set forth in subsection 9.7, after the first time prescription, or after the patient has been issued outpatient prescription(s) totaling up to a seven day supply, prior to issuing a subsequent prescription for an opioid analgesic for Acute Pain, the practitioner must perform an appropriate evaluation of the patient's medical history and condition, including the following:

9.6.1 Query the PMP to obtain a prescription history for the first subsequent prescription that goes beyond the initial 7-day period and, for any subsequent prescriptions after that, the PMP shall be queried at the discretion of the practitioner unless otherwise required;

9.6.2 9.7.1 Administer a fluid drug screen, at the discretion of the practitioner;

9.6.3 9.7.2 Conduct a physical examination which must include a documented discussion between the practitioner and patient to: Elicit relevant history, explain the risks and benefits of opioid analgesics and possible alternatives to the use of opioid analgesics, identify other treatments tried or considered, and determine whether opioid analgesics are contra-indicated;

9.6.4 9.7.3 Obtain an Informed Consent form, signed by the patient (or the patient's proxy), that must include information regarding the drug's potential for addiction, abuse, and misuse; and the risks associated with the drug of life-threatening respiratory depression; overdose as a result of accidental exposure potentially fatal, especially in children; neonatal opioid withdrawal symptoms; and potentially fatal overdose when interacting with alcohol; and other potentially fatal drug/drug interactions, such as benzodiazepines; and

9.6.5 9.7.4 Schedule and undertake periodic follow-up visits and evaluations of the patient to monitor and assess progress toward goals in the treatment plan and modify the treatment plan, as necessary. The practitioner must determine whether to continue the treatment of pain with an opioid analgesic, whether there is an available alternative, whether to refer the patient for a pain management or substance abuse consultation.

9.7 ~~9.8~~ Exemptions to subsection 9.6 ~~9.7~~:

~~9.7.1~~ ~~9.8.1~~ If a patient has been discharged from an in-patient facility or out-patient surgical center, and, in the professional medical judgment of the practitioner, more than a seven-day supply of an opiate is required to treat the patient's acute medical condition, the practitioner may issue a second prescription for not more than a seven-day supply without satisfying the requirements of subsection 9.6 ~~9.7~~.

~~9.7.2~~ ~~9.8.2~~ If a practitioner satisfies the requirements of subsection 9.6 ~~9.7~~ at the time of the first time prescription, the practitioner may issue a subsequent prescription for not more than a seven-day supply without repeating the requirements of subsection 9.6 ~~9.7~~.

9.8 ~~9.9~~ Chronic Pain patients. In addition to the requirements of subsection 9.6 ~~9.7~~, the practitioner must adhere to the following additional requirements for Chronic Pain patients:

~~9.8.1~~ ~~Query the PMP at least every six months, more frequently if clinically indicated, or whenever the patient is also being prescribed a benzodiazepine;~~

~~9.8.2~~ ~~9.9.1~~ Query the PMP whenever the patient is assessed to potentially be at risk for substance abuse or misuse or demonstrates such things as loss of prescription(s), requests for early refills or similar behavior;

~~9.8.3~~ ~~9.9.2~~ Administer fluid drug screens at least once every six months;

~~9.8.4~~ ~~9.9.3~~ Obtain a signed Treatment Agreement, pursuant to ~~as defined in this~~ subsection 9.3.13 ;

~~9.8.5~~ ~~9.9.4~~ Conduct a Risk Assessment as defined in subsection 9.3.10 ~~this subsection~~;

~~9.8.6~~ ~~9.9.5~~ Document in the patient's medical record alternative treatment options that have been tried by the patient, including non-pharmacological treatments, and their adequacy with respect to providing sufficient management of pain;

~~9.8.7~~ ~~9.9.6~~ Make efforts to address psychiatric and medical comorbidities concurrently, rather than sequentially, when concurrent treatment is clinically feasible; and

~~9.8.8~~ ~~9.9.7~~ At the practitioner's discretion, seek a case review and consult with, or otherwise refer the patient to, a state-licensed physician who holds a subspecialty board certification in addiction psychiatry from the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology or an addiction certification from the American Board of Addiction Medicine or an addiction specialist if any of the following occur:

~~9.8.8.1~~ ~~9.9.7.1~~ Adulterated drug tests;

~~9.8.8.2~~ ~~9.9.7.2~~ Diversion of prescribed medications; or

~~9.8.8.3~~ ~~9.9.7.3~~ The patient has obtained controlled substances elsewhere without disclosure to the physician, as evidenced by PMP data.

9.10 When a practitioner prescribes a patient a medication dose in excess of 120 MME/day (morphine milligram equivalency), such practitioner shall also issue the patient a prescription for naloxone with adequate refills for a year.

9.9 ~~9.11~~ Practitioners treating the following patients are exempted from the requirements of ~~this Regulation~~ Section 9.0:

9.9.1 [9.11.1](#) Hospice care patients;

9.9.2 [9.11.2](#) Active cancer treatment patients;

9.9.3 [9.11.3](#) Patients experiencing cancer-related pain;

9.9.4 [9.11.4](#) Terminally ill/palliative care patients; and

9.9.5 [9.11.5](#) Hospital patients, during the hospital stay, including any prescription issued at the time of discharge, so long as that discharge prescription is for a quantity of a 7-day supply or less.

**20 DE Reg. 564 (01/01/17)**

**20 DE Reg. 826 (04/01/17)**

**~~24 DE ADC CSA 10.0~~ Procedures for Adoption of Regulations**

~~10.1 Notice. Prior to the adoption, amendment or repeal of any of these controlled substances regulations, the Secretary of State/Committee will give at least twenty (20) days notice of the intended action.~~

~~10.1.1 The notice will include a statement of either the terms of substance of the intended action or a description of the subjects and issues involved, or the time when, and the place where to present their views thereon. The notice will be mailed to persons who have made timely request of the Office of Controlled Substances for advance notice of such rule-making proceedings and shall be published in two newspapers of general circulation in this State.~~

~~10.2 Hearing. The Secretary of State shall designate the Committee to preside over hearings. The Committee will afford all interested persons a reasonable opportunity to submit data, views or arguments, orally or in writing.~~

~~10.3 Emergency Regulations. If the Secretary of State, upon the recommendation of the Committee, finds that an imminent peril to the public health, safety or welfare requires adoption of a regulation upon fewer than twenty (20) days notice and states in writing his/her reasons for that finding, the Secretary of State may proceed without prior notice or hearing or upon any abbreviated notice and hearing he/she finds practicable, to adopt an emergency regulation. Such rules will be effective for a period not longer than 120 days, but the adoption of an identical rule under the procedures discussed above is not precluded.~~

~~10.3.1 Pursuant to 16 Del.C. §4713 the Secretary of State finds that the synthetic opioid, 3, 4-dichloro-N-[2-(dimethylamino)cyclohexyl]-N-methylbenzamide (also known as U-47700) and its isomers, esters, ethers, salts and salts of isomers, esters and ethers, has high potential for abuse; has no accepted medical use in treatment in the United States or lacks accepted safety for use in treatment under medical supervision, and therefore:~~

~~10.3.1.1 The Secretary of State, as authorized by 16 Del.C. §4713, does hereby add by rule 3,4-dichloro-N-[2-(dimethylamino)cyclohexyl]-N-methylbenzamide (also known as U-47700) and its isomers, esters, ethers, salts and salts of isomers, esters and ethers, in Schedule I of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, 16 Del.C. Ch. 47.~~

~~10.4 Finding and Availability. The Secretary of State will maintain on file any adoption, amendment or repeal of these regulations. In addition, copies of these regulations will be available for public inspection at the Office of Controlled Substances.~~

**20 DE Reg. 564 (01/01/17)**

~~20 DE Reg. 826 (04/01/17)~~

24 DE ADC CSA 11.0

24 DE ADC CSA 11.0

24 DE ADC CSA 10.0

24 DE ADC CSA 10.0

~~11.0~~ **10.0 Severability**

~~11.1~~ **10.1** If any provision of these regulations is held invalid the invalidity does not affect other provisions of the regulations which can be given effect without the invalid provisions or application, and to this end the provisions of the regulation are severable.

~~11.2~~ **10.2** Pursuant to 16 **Del.C.** §4718(f) and 16 **Del.C.** §4720(c) the Secretary of State finds that the compounds, mixtures or preparations listed in 21 **CFR** 1301.21, 21 **CFR** 1308.24 contain one or more active medical ingredients not having a stimulant or depressant effect on the central nervous system and that the admixtures included therein are in combinations, quantities, proportions, or concentrations that vitiate the potential for abuse of the substances which have a stimulant or depressant effect on the central nervous system, and therefore:

~~11.2.1~~ **10.2.1** The Secretary of State, as authorized by 16 **Del.C.** §4718(f) and 16 **Del.C.** §4720(c), does hereby except by rule the substances listed in 21 **CFR** 130.21, **CFR** 1308.24 and 21 **CFR** 1308.32 from Schedules III and IV of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, 16 **Del.C.** Ch. 47.

13 DE Reg. 281 (08/01/09)

15 DE Reg. 891 (12/01/11)

16 DE Reg. 1198 (05/01/13)

17 DE Reg. 992 (04/01/14)

20 DE Reg. 564 (01/01/17)

20 DE Reg. 826 (04/01/17)

22 DE Reg. 79 (07/01/18)

23 DE Reg. 16 (07/01/19) (Prop.)